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INTRODUCTION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS


Anyone working on the history of Dudley is aware of the great deal of work previously done by historians of all kinds. Early commentators, such as Payton and Twamley, concentrated on the castle, while Clark recorded nineteenth-century politics. Arthur Rollason collected data which he published in the Dudley Herald. E.Blocksidge, the Dudley printer, collected details about the castle and town. In the twentieth century J.S. Roper lightened the load of research with his enormous energy in transcribing documents, and in the transcript series published by the borough he sketched out the story of Dudley from the Middle Ages to the eighteenth century. In the mid-twentieth century Batsford published a volume by Chandler and Hannah, with chronological tables. The book is enhanced with drawings by Mrs Hannah. The authors relied on material in the town library, much of which is now in Dudley Archives.


More recently, archaeologist John Hemingway has produced his trilogy of books on Dudley history, expertly illustrated and containing much primary material in transcription. He has unearthed a great deal of evidence, and I am indebted to many leads he has given in tracing books and documents. Trevor Raybould has concentrated on the development of mining, and the history of the grammar school. Mention must also be made of the splendid research by Jason Ellis on glassmaking. Ned Williams has produced a fine series of books on Dudley, and I am extremely grateful to him for permission to use some of his information which has been gathered meticulously. I owe considerable debt to all these sources and more, which will be acknowledged in the notes and bibliography.


Thanks must be extended to the friendly and efficient staff at Dudley Archives, whose collection is first rate and includes much material from the Dudley Lordship. I also wish to thank the staff at Worcester Record Office and Worcester History Centre for their efficiency and helpfulness. There are many deeds and other documents in Worcester, with useful microfilm copies, which will be detailed in the bibliography. As always, staff at Birmingham Reference Library have responded to my frequent requests. Thanks are also due to staff at the William Salt Library at Stafford.


Details of picture sources are at the end of the book.




one


PREHISTORY AND EARLY HISTORY


Saxons and Normans


The modern Metropolitan Borough of Dudley embraces the old parishes of Kingswinford, Oldswinford, much of Halesowen, large parts of Sedgley and fragments of other parishes, but at its heart is the old manor of Dudley (including the district of Netherton, arguably at one time a manor or sub-manor), with its two old parish churches of St Edmund and St Thomas. This was a borough in the thirteenth century, and it is this core Dudley with which we shall be concerned. Any view of Dudley town is dominated by the medieval castle, yet amazingly this ancient building and the hill on which it stands were not even in the same county as the rest of the town, being historically (so far as we have documentation) in the parish of Sedgley in Staffordshire, while the rest of Dudley was in Worcestershire. Castle Hill was a Staffordshire peninsula protruding into Worcestershire, but Dudley itself is an island of Worcestershire protruding into Staffordshire. These confusing boundaries will not be totally observed in this book, and we shall cross them occasionally in mentioning Wren’s Nest (actually in Sedgley) and Pensnett Chase (divided between the two counties, to the confusion of at least one late map maker).


The old manor of Dudley, including Netherton, was bounded on the north-east by Tipton, itself part of the super-manor of Longdon; on the east by Rowley, divided into Regis and Somery; the wild area of Pensnett Chase, stretching in an arc from the south of Netherton to Barrow Hill (Kingswinford parish) and Holly Hall; and Sedgley to the north, which parish included fringe areas of land that was geographically part of Dudley, and was sometimes in contention with Dudley over these areas. The boundary on the north-east, east and south was marked by watercourses, but on the south-west could be more easily blurred. These brooks are often unnamed in documents, but the north-western one is sometimes Holbeache, the north-eastern one Stockwell, while the brook dividing Pensnett Chase (Dudley portion) from Rowley parish is mysteriously called Mousesweet at times, though also more simply the Bourne brook. These boundary brooks are by now insignificant, mostly mere runnels behind houses or factories, or even piped underground.


[image: images]


1 Outline map of the parish and manor of Dudley
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2 Dudley MBC flyer: ‘The Wren’s Nest’


There is no doubt that Dudley boundaries, which probably date from about the tenth century, relate to different tribes claiming possession of tracts of land. Worcestershire was part of the lands of the Hwicce, with a principal settlement at Worcester, eventually defined and sanctified as a diocese. These men were racially Saxons, whereas the Staffordshire parishes were developed by men who are thought to be Angles and whose chief towns were Tamworth and Lichfield. Dudley, so far from the sea, and with its unproductive land, forms part of an area developed late, cut off from centres of civilisation by the wild waste of Pensnett Chase. But unknown to its early inhabitants, the ground beneath their feet held potential riches in the shape of minerals – coal, ironstone and limestone – which would one day make their descendants rich, but the countryside polluted. Today, little sign of mining remains, but there is still plenty of industry and a flourishing town, out of which the castle on its high hill rises anomalously. Both Castle Hill and Cawney Hill, the two separated by a valley, provide views for many miles over the countryside, and it is surprising that no Iron Age activity has been found on either of them. Cawney Hill, at least, has never attracted the archaeologists, so such habitation cannot be ruled in or out.
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3 The view westwards from Cawney Hill.
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4 A steep pathway down Cawney Hill.


Prehistory of Dudley


Just outside the area which would one day become Dudley, 300 million years before these early inhabitants began to clear the forests, the sea covered Wren’s Nest, eventually causing fossils to be created in the limestone: these sea creatures, called trilobites, made Wren’s Nest famous. There were hundreds of species of these corals and gastropods, but they remained unrecognised until the seventeenth-century author Dr Robert Plot, keeper of the Ashmolean Museum at Oxford, mentioned them in his book The Natural History of Staffordshire in 1686.1 Similar fossils were found in the limestone caverns under Castle Hill, and a different kind of fossil occurs in coal measures, set down some 100 million years after the sea creatures lived. These geological phenomena were exploited in the mid-nineteenth century, after the visit of the Duc de Bordeaux in 1844 was featured in the London Illustrated News.


Early Topography


Dudley has no Anglo-Saxon charters and the early historical period has left little record except changes to the landscape and place names. Early eleventh-century Dudley was owned by an Anglo-Saxon lord called Earl Edwin. We know nothing further for certain about this landowner, and his land was confiscated after the Norman Conquest. At this time, Dudley was a village rather than a town, a state in which it would remain until the foundation of the borough by Roger de Somery III, apparently in the 1260s. Despite our lack of knowledge about this period, some clues from later times help us to reconstruct the nature of the manor which Earl Edwin owned and the barons descended from FitzAnsculf could survey from their castle on Castle Hill. (It is worth mentioning that Sedgley, where Dudley Castle was to be built, was owned by Leofric, a Mercian lord whose wife is the much more famous Godiva of Coventry.)


At this time, Coventry was the principal town in the West Midlands, and several Coventry residents owned land in Dudley during medieval times. In a rent roll of 1541 the Throckmorton family are in possession of a messuage (house) named ‘ye Hall-house’, and with this we may link the very ancient name of Hall Street (sometimes Hall Lane).2 The hall can be located where eventually the Phoenix glassworks stood, approximately at the south side of the present junction of Trindle Road, Hall Street and King Street. Near this for many years was the pinfold or pound, where stray animals would be kept until their owners could fetch them after paying a fine. In the dip in the road to the south was Waddams Pool, located just where we might expect a medieval fishpond to be. An ancient track, frequently referred to in court rolls, ran from the south side of the glassworks (which were not built until the eighteenth century) to what is now Birmingham Road through the Lord’s Fields. This track crosses Hall Street and becomes what we now know as King Street.


Hall Street, still without any known name, divided just beyond this point, with one branch continuing through present-day Churchill Precinct, becoming New Street and leading past the priory (which was still to be built at the period we are considering) and forming the route to Tipton by means of a low-lying, muddy valley. The other branch was long known as Back Lane but is now King Street. This turns north near St Thomas’ Church and leads to Wolverhampton. Very slight traces of this route remained on maps until it eventually became Stafford Street. In the other direction, Hall Street was part of an ancient track, even to this day known further east as Portway. This old market road provided a route via Dixon’s Green, across the hills to Whiteheath and Rowley, eventually to Birmingham (probably to Coventry). It can be seen that the likely site of the medieval Hall House was the centre of the system of tracks, and that this area, with St Edmund’s Church, formed the nucleus of the village which must have existed before the foundation of the borough.
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5 Conjectural plan of Dudley before the burgages.


There is one more interesting point which may support this suggestion. Between what is now Priory Street (earlier called Sheep Fair and The Horsepool) and modern High Street, the eighteenth century recognised as Moat Close. This can only mean that a moated house occupied a position between The Horsepool (on the site of the former 58 trolley-bus terminus) and what is now High Street. Once the market had arrived, with the burgages lining it and its extension beyond Stoney Lane (Stone Street), there would have been no room for a moated house. The moated house must have been part of ‘village Dudley’ before the present High Street was driven through fields from the castle to Queens Cross.


No doubt this small village already had its open field system. One of the fields must have been Porters Field, which in one late document is written as Potters Field, suggesting a possibility that this may have been where the local ceramicists obtained their clay. Pottery making was very necessary in medieval times, but was a considerable fire risk and was often banished to the edge of settlements, as it was in this instance. To the south of the old manor was a field which later appears in documents as Peaks Field; this seems to be a name later extended to Peacocks. We have no written evidence about whether there was another field to the north, but the matter will recur when we deal with the foundation of the borough. The manorial mill was presumably the one which eventually became Castle Mill, reached by the track already mentioned which led to Tipton. If these geographical suggestions are correct the site of the present market place may well have been part of the open field eventually called Greystone, or land attached to the moated house already mentioned. All these features existed before the lords of Dudley Castle laid out their planned borough.


Dudley is built on a ridge, which caused a difficulty: water supplies, though not far away, were meagre, and this was to prove a severe hazard in later times. What sufficed for a small village was little use to a developing industrial town. In the Middle Ages, watercourses flowed to the south of what became King Street and through fields towards Netherton, while on the other side of the ridge, a few hundred yards away, small streams ran down towards the present Birmingham Road, where there was another moated house, then across a rabbit warren towards Tipton. This water would eventually reach the North Sea via the Tame and Trent, while the water from the south-west of the Dudley ridge ended up in the Severn. There were wells dotted throughout the early settlement, but not nearly enough to supply the large town that would eventually grow here.
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6 Greystone Street preserves the name of the northern open field.


St Edmund’s Church


We can be sure of only one building being erected in Anglo-Saxon Dudley: the church of St Edmund, King and Martyr. This was not, of course, the present-day brick building, and we have no exact knowledge of the appearance of the first church – it may well have been wooden.


St Edmund was an East Anglian saint, connected with Bury St Edmund’s, but there were a few dedications to him in the rest of England, notably at Exeter. After the Norman Conquest, dedications to St Edmund ceased. Very shortly, the dynasty of William I would bring a governing elite of Norman nobles to England, including one Ansculf and his son, William Fitz-Ansculf, to Dudley.


Dudley in Norman Times


The Domesday Survey, written in 1086, tells us that after Earl Edwin, William Fitz-Ansculf holds ‘Dudley, and there is his castle’. As he also held Sedgley, there could be no hindrance to his founding Dudley Castle in the next parish and county. During the previous twenty years, a motte was built overlooking St Edmund’s Church. This was an enormous mound of earth, excavated from surrounding fields by Anglo-Saxon labour, and it was on this that Dudley’s earliest castle was built. The mound still exists, with all later castle buildings being set on it also. No record of the nature of the first buildings has survived, though later Normans built with stone and some of their work does remain. The earliest parts of Fitz-Ansculf’s building could have been constructed of wood, and there are marks of walls within the bailey (the courtyard adjoining the motte, also marked out and fortified during Fitz-Ansculf’s rule) which have not been excavated.


Fitz-Ansculf’s baronial territory stretched through vast tracts of the Midlands; he also held other swathes in Buckinghamshire, Berkshire and beyond. The whole group of manors was called ‘The Barony of Dudley’.3 These links across many parishes, even to the home counties, became important when subsequent lords decided to make Dudley into a town. It is at this point where a glimpse of Fitz-Ansculf’s character comes to light: he was in dispute over the manor of Selly (also called Weoley), and this manor was bought before 1066 by one Wulfwin, a Saxon lord. On his deathbed, Wulfwin wished to pass the manor to his wife, and after her death back to the church. Anyone who tried to take it should be excommunicated. Fitz-Ansculf didn’t care, and took it.


The family of Ansculf originated in Picquigny near Amiens, and were not therefore true Normans but Picards. It is said that the name Picquigny was a test word for Anglo-Saxons, because they could not pronounce it, and this was still the case up to the sixteenth century. Historians are not sure why the next generation to hold Dudley Castle and manor were the Paganels (variously spelt); it is thought possible that Fulke Paganel married a daughter of Fitz-Ansculf, but there is no precise record that he even had a daughter. Fulke held all Fitz-Ansculf’s former possessions, including Newport Pagnell in Buckinghamshire.


The Domesday Book further states that Dudley had one hide, and in demesne one carucate, and there were three villeins, ten bordars and one smith with three carucates. There were two bondmen and two miles of woodland. Both hide and carucate are measurements of ploughland, while bordars are small farmers of land on the periphery of the estate. It is quite impossible to locate any of these features in eleventh-century Dudley, and hard to guess exactly which woodlands are meant. Within the next centuries many trees, especially oaks, were cut down for building within the area, but these were all from Pensnett Chase or, as it is more frequently known, Penniak (though this description includes Woodside, much of Netherton and Dudley Wood).


Either Fulke or possibly his son Ralph is thought to be responsible for rebuilding Dudley Castle in stone. Norman work remains in the gateway, with the inner and outer arches both exhibiting architecture recognisable as Norman.4 An arch of Norman type in the buttery has been partially unblocked. It is clear, however, that Dudley never had a square donjon tower like a number of other Norman castles. After 1106, castles were being demolished rather than reinforced, and we must therefore guess that the new building at Dudley came twenty or so years later, when civil war engulfed England and parts of France. In 1138 the castle was besieged by an army of King Stephen, against a garrison holding it for Empress Matilda. By this time Ralph Paganel had married a daughter of Earl Ferrars of Tutbury and succeeded his father. The siege failed, which suggests that the gateway and other fortifications not now remaining had been built by Ralph as he saw wartime returning. A later document states that Ralph also wished to found a monastery, but did not live long enough. This pious task was left to his son, Gervase.


Dudley Priory


The precise date of the foundation of Dudley Priory is not known, but is thought to be in the 1150s, certainly no later than 1160. The priory site is low-lying, well watered by streams which rise on the north side of the ridge, near what is now Dudley town centre. These were needed both to provide a source of water for cooking, washing and sanitation, but also to dam for a moat and fishpond. An area round the priory site, as well as a tranche of other lands away from Dudley, was given to the monks by Paganel. It is clear that this Cluniac foundation depended on St Milburga’s at Much Wenlock (though not necessarily from its beginning), and the endowment included the churches at Sedgley and Northfield, as well as other churches far from the Midlands. Both Sedgley and Northfield were to have close relations with Dudley in the future; a main road out of Netherton is still called Northfield Road. Most importantly, the priory, dedicated to St James, was also given the churches of St Edmund’s and newly founded St Thomas’, in 1182. At some point Wombourne was added to the endowment, with its chapel at Trysull, also including Seisdon. There was also a not very clear link with Sandwell Priory, which was founded at about the same time. Sandwell Priory continued to hold land in Dudley until 1526.5
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7 General view of the priory from the south in the 1950s


Gervase Paganel reaped the reward of his father’s support of Matilda. Her son Henry, who was later to become King Henry II, visited Dudley Castle in 1153–4, the year before his coronation. Among his actions there was the signing of a deed, describing him as Duke of Normandy and Aquitaine and Earl of Anjou, and granting to the church of Wolverhampton the same liberty that was held in the time of his grandfather, King Henry I. Gervase Paganel signed the deed as one of the witnesses. There is so little left of the Norman parts of the castle that we cannot know what Henry saw as he looked round the rebuilt bailey, but in any case it did not last long. Gervase eventually turned against Henry, joining his rebel sons, and twenty years after Henry’s visit, by royal edict the castle was slighted, that is demolished, apparently to the ground. Weeds, bushes and rubble remained on the desolate site for almost 100 years.


St Thomas’ Church


The next part of the story is conjecture, based on a suggestion by I.C. Hannah.6 Dudley’s ‘Top Church’, St Thomas’, is dedicated to St Thomas Becket, who was murdered (some would say in mysterious circumstances) on 29 December 1170. He was recognised as a saint in 1173, the year of the rebellion against King Henry II. Gervase Paganel’s castle was torn stone from stone in retaliation for his support of the revolt. Almost immediately after this a new church was dedicated to St Thomas at the opposite end of the village, its tower clearly visible from the castle motte and perhaps even built of stone from the castle. Unfortunately there is now very little trace of this medieval building. On payment of a large fine (500 marks), Gervase was restored to favour by the king. St Thomas’ may have been so called in defiance of the king, but despite this it can probably be seen as a thank you offering for Gervase’s restoration. The king later endowed Dudley Priory with the two churches of St Edmund and St Thomas, the precedence of St Edmund being shown by this word order.
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8 St Thomas’s Church – ‘Top church’.
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9 Old St Thomas’s Church from the south.


There was confirmation of the status and possessions of Dudley Priory in 1182, when the pope produced a document naming ‘the church of St James’, with its ‘chapels’, St Edmund and St Thomas, as owner of churches in Northfield, Cofton Hackett (also called Coston), Wombourne and other places. He provided for the monks to bury their dead in the priory grounds, and the use of a chapel bell is mentioned. However, St Edmund and St Thomas were not ‘chapels’, they were parish churches, operating separate parishes with their own churchwardens and geographical areas, though only one vicar, before 1646. How exactly such an arrangement came about is unknown, and it is possible that it was not originally the case, but it seems the Vatican authorities made a mistake in calling the two churches ‘chapels’.


Layout of the Priory


Some parts of the original twelfth-century priory buildings still remain: the footings of the apsidal chancel and the lower part of a pillar, between the apse and the south transept, with other small fragments.7 A Norman tympanum was discovered in excavations, depicting St Michael fighting a dragon. It is hard to know which doorway it was placed over. In Cluniac fashion, there were two other apses, one in the south and one in the north transept. Nothing remains above ground of the southern apse. As at Sandwell Priory, the living and administrative quarters were on the north side of the church. It is not clear why this was so, though at both places there may have been problems of flooding. Part of this range may have been built in the twelfth century, but the church was certainly not finished at this time.


The quarrels between King Henry II and his sons prevented him from joining the crusade to the east, and by 1189, worn out, he died. Gervase Paganel attended the coronation of his successor, King Richard I, but also died soon after this (probably in 1194), leaving no heir. Gervase’s sister Hawise had married John de Somery, a baron with family in East Anglia. On the death of Gervase, her son Ralph paid to inherit the Dudley lands. It is doubtful whether these events had much effect in Dudley, though in the course of time the de Somery family would change the place for ever. During all this time the castle ruins mouldered, and the manor was in the hands of a steward.


At the priory there was more building in the late twelfth century, extending the church (north wall), and early in the thirteenth century the administrative buildings continuing the line of the north transept were extended. This work seems to have progressed, with more work on the nave of the church and the west side of the cloister during the next decades. The west door of the priory church, still standing, dates from this period, and above the door can be seen triangular stonework which seems to indicate a porch later removed. The west window as currently visible replaced higher windows, perhaps typical thirteenth-century lancets.


There is no record of the number of monks at Dudley during this period. It seems that there were never many, perhaps generally about four, with support from laypeople. How they affected the economy of the area is conjecture. They seem to have organised the rural husbandry of the priory lands, stretching from the edge of modern Wolverhampton Street to the ruined castle, and from the priory buildings to the brook dividing Dudley from Sedgley. The lay workers may have been chosen from among the villagers, but there is no proof of this. The continuing development of the priory buildings would mean that local quarries (perhaps very local) required men to mine the limestone, a trade that would last for centuries.


There was a dispute in the 1230s which led to a prior being excommunicated. The argument involved jurisdiction over the priory and its possessions, and turned on the question of whether the Cluniac priory was extra-diocesan or not. Both the Bishop of Worcester and the Cluniac order apparently claimed authority over the priory. This was, in general, a Cluniac principle, to retain very tight control over the daughter monasteries. We have little clue as to the exact settlement, but the current prior was excommunicated in 1237 after a decision was made in favour of the bishop. The extension and rebuilding of the priory continued, resulting in the currently visible south wall of the church and some work in the southern apse which was later refaced. Finances for this expansion presumably came from the priory’s land in Dudley and part of the tithes of the priory’s possessions in Sedgley, Wombourne and Northfield.


Thirteenth-Century Dudley


In trying to reconstruct thirteenth-century Dudley we must imagine away all industry apart, perhaps, from quarrying. It is possible that coal was gathered, but not mined, from outcrops in the manor, since coal pits are recorded in Sedgley in 1272. There is still no town and almost certainly no market, and Dudley does not yet stand out from its neighbours Rowley, Tipton and Sedgley. Roads as we know them do not exist; mere tracks lead from hamlet to hamlet. The arable fields are farmed in strips (there will be much evidence of their location later). Meadows frequently flood and provide the best grazing. There are probably no stone buildings apart from the priory and churches; the castle lies derelict. Peasant houses are of wood and thatch. Beyond the present-day centre of Netherton and west of Woodside the woodlands flourish with their oaks, birches, alders and, here and there by the streams, willows. Deer and foxes live among them and are hunted with bows and arrows. Castle Mill, in the far north, grinds corn, and on the banks of the Bourne brook, at Withymoor, another mill serves Dudley and Rowley. However, a change is coming. More than halfway through the century the lords will return to Dudley and transform it from a small village to a prosperous town.




two


THE LATER MIDDLE AGES


The last half of the thirteenth century was crucial for Dudley’s development, but unfortunately the evidence for it is confused. Local events in the 1260s are the direct results of national events, but no eyewitness wrote down for us exactly what happened. We have no option but to work partly from circumstantial evidence.


The three major developments which appear to date from the 1260s are (1) the rebuilding of the castle; (2) the foundation of the borough, and (3) the granting of a market charter.


Members of the de Somery family were, for a long time, engaged in foreign wars and in fighting lawsuits at home. One intermittent ‘foreign’ war was in Wales, whose border with Shropshire may have seemed perilously close to Dudley. After a long period of physical absence, the lords of Dudley now returned to the centre of their barony. In 1262, Roger de Somery II decided to rebuild the castle, but this was a time when the king could not trust his subordinates: the barons had been seething with revolt. He ordered de Somery to stop refortifying. But Roger was able to show proof of his loyalty to King Henry III in his war in Wales; in fact, it was just because of this loyalty that he wished to refortify Dudley. In 1265 he was granted a licence to ‘crenellate’, rebuild the castle with fortifications; this proved to be enormously significant for the ridge-top settlement at Dudley and for the area as a whole. (At the same time, Roger was allowed to crenellate Weoley Castle.) He planned, but did not live to execute, a strong curtain wall along the top of the bailey overlooking Dudley, which would guard the new buildings he proposed for the castle. However, in 1272 he died and was buried in the priory.


A Market Granted to Dudley


The grant of a market was a royal prerogative. Clearly, to provide a market would involve a physical location for it. Market places needed to be wide enough to accommodate stalls and crowds. It seems certain that providing such a space in Dudley would need to go hand-in-hand with making the small town into a borough, with burgess plots lining the market. The problem for historians is that there is no direct reference to the foundation of Dudley Borough. Roger de Somery would gain from having a borough at the foot of his castle, with its prosperous market and inhabitants who would rally to his cause if needed. But there was already a market at Wolverhampton, evidenced in a deed of 1204, where the dean of the church was a force to be reckoned with.1 This dean, Giles de Erdington, was a holder of a number of manors, who fought successfully to retain some local power for Wolverhampton against the diocese of Lichfield. A medieval charter forbade markets to be less than 7 miles apart (though this dates from 1327), but there are only 6 miles between Dudley and Wolverhampton. In 1261 there was a law case between Giles de Erdington and Roger de Somery concerning markets, in which it was maintained that Dudley had a market before Wolverhampton: this seems unlikely. However, we cannot rule out the possibility that Dudley already did have a small market, or that de Somery was trying to establish the right to hold one.


It may have seemed to the king that Giles de Erdington was gaining too much power. In addition, Roger de Somery supported the king against Simon de Montfort’s rebellion in 1264–5. He was taken prisoner at the Battle of Lewes, and in 1265 fought at the Battle of Evesham. The following year Roger was one of eight high-ranking nobles to draw up the ‘Dictum of Kenilworth’, which restored the barons to their customary duties. It might seem likely that he could be rewarded by the grant of a market to Dudley, whatever the distance to Wolverhampton. There is also a piece of mysterious documentary evidence that has proved almost impossible to interpret but which is the only written material we have relating to this process. Its defects and possible meaning require some discussion.


A Deed of Disputed Date


A report of this document (the original has never been found) first surfaced in the Birmingham Archaeological Journal for 1913.2 A text was printed, in English, purporting to date from 1218. The text begins:





Be it known by these p[re]sents that I, Roger ye son of Roger Somery, Knight, Lord of Dudley, have given and granted by these p[re]sents have confirmed to all Burgesses of ye Borrow of Dudley all liberties hereafter following.





This is seventeenth-century English; any medieval grant would have been in Latin, and this is not a contemporary medieval translation. The deed is signed by witnesses, the first of whom is Henry of Bushbury, who was keeper of Dudley castle as late as 1327, more than 100 years after the purported date. What is to be made of this confusing piece of evidence?


One possible suggestion is that the medieval date, in Roman numerals MIILVIII, was mistakenly written MIIVIII (1218 instead of 1268). If so, this must have been on the seventeenth-century copy, since medieval deeds did not make use of Roman numerals.


Another is that the deed as translated is a summary of two or more deeds, made in 1327 or later, a kind of confirmation of existing privileges. Perhaps both theories are true. The date 1218 must give some information, however muddled. The year 1268 is a time when Roger de Somery is known to be actively developing Dudley, and an inquisition post-mortem of 1273, when he died, confirms that the market was producing revenue by that time. Though we cannot rule out an earlier foundation of the borough, and some kind of market may have existed before this, 1268 seems likely enough.


The borough at Dudley belonged to a group called seigneurial boroughs, that is, they were created by the lord of the manor. It seems probable that de Somery ordained a new street almost parallel to the supposed original road (now King Street), lining the market place with burgage plots, in which he placed loyal burgesses. Burgage plots in every town were long, thin plots, with a frontage, often narrow, to the main street. The dimensions of these plots lasted through history, influencing modern times. At Dudley, the plots on the south of the market seem to be exactly opposite those on the north (except where amalgamations and purchases have taken place). They extend north from King Street across the market to Tower Street in a number of cases. This suggests that each plot may have occupied the width of a pre-existing arable strip in the open fields. Such development would avoid the need for new surveying. Evidence from a much larger Midland borough, founded in 1196, is that of Stratford-on-Avon, where the burgage plots also follow the lines of pre-existing arable strips.3


We might wonder what these new burgage houses were like. Very few domestic buildings of the thirteenth century exist in the whole of the British Isles, and indeed it has been established that up to the end of the twelfth-century houses were usually of wood, not expected to last beyond the life of the inhabitant or his son. In other parts of the country some stone houses exist from this date, but it seems to have been much later that any houses were built out of stone in Dudley. We might suppose that some burgage houses were of cruck construction, that is, the basic frame was of two large wooden beams meeting at an apex, with walls partly of wooden frame infilled with mud or clay. The use of clay is in fact confirmed by the document we have mentioned, rendered in the seventeenth-century English as ‘ye same Burgesses shall have clay to make their walls’. It is unlikely that these early burgages would have had more than one storey, or any partly floored-over high area being reached by a ladder.


The document made other provisions. No one was to be made a burgess except on the authority of the other burgesses; the burgesses would not have to pay toll in Wolverhampton or Birmingham and would have the right to grant permission to build houses on the lord’s wasteland. They could pasture their cattle and pigs in the lord’s woods, and could have any dead wood freely. These rights could be exercised both in the town and in the foreign, that is the ‘foreign’ parts of the manor beyond the town limits. This is the first occasion in Dudley when this term is used. The same word is used in Walsall and Birmingham for the outlying parts of the manor. In the case of Dudley, the town limits were drawn quite tightly round the main inhabited area. Small ‘rescue’ digs have shown traces of medieval buildings in the town centre, including some substantial foundations in what became New Street.4 Precise dating of these small pieces of evidence is hazardous.


Dudley Castle Rebuilding


An authoritative statement of the condition of Dudley, not long after the disputed date of 1268, comes from the inquisition post-mortem of Roger de Somery, who died in 1272. Here his rebuilding of the castle is said to be ‘newly commenced’ and still not finished, so that it cannot yet be valued. Figures are given for the rent of the burgages, for the pasture of the castle, and for the market tolls. The assessors also listed Penniak wood, that is to say part of Pensnett Chase. They say that this is in Sedgley and Kingswinford manors, and they may be correct, but Dudley Wood was also part of the Chase, and they may or may not be including it. It is, they say, a mile and a half long and three-quarters of a mile wide.5


A lay subsidy (a tax document) lists the tax-paying inhabitants of Dudley at some point between 1276 and 1282, certainly after the foundation of the borough and market. Most of them would be burgesses. In the thirteenth century surnames were indicative of trade or origin, and so by examining their surnames we can tell a little about the make-up of the Dudley population. It seems that de Somery had planted burgesses from some of his other manors. There were, for instance, Galfridus (Geoffrey) de Rowley, Robertus de Bermyngham, Petrus Bulston, Walterus de Saltley, Johannus de Russel (Rushall) and Radulphus de Bannebur[y]. There is no reason to suppose that these surnames do not reflect the birthplace of the individuals concerned. Some inhabitants came from nearby; for example, Johannus de Wrosne (Wren’s Nest). Others are distinguished by the name of their parent, including Adamus filius Ricardi and, perhaps surprisingly, Benedictus filius Alicie (his father’s name not given). There were two Pistors (fishermen) who were to give their name to countless Dudley residents, and after whom Fisher Street is ultimately named. Willielmus Frebodi must have been an early free tenant, whose descendants gave their name to the area round Kate’s Hill, long called Freebodies.


Roger de Somery was followed as lord by his son, also named Roger, who occupied the position for nineteen years and continued to rebuild the castle. He probably completed the curtain wall round the bailey which his father had begun. The two other major works of this period were the huge donjon towers, originally four, and the rebuilt gatehouse. It may be that these were finished in the next generation by Roger’s son. We have to remember that the castle was not only a huge fortification towering over Dudley, but the centre of a barony much of the land of which was in the Midlands, but which included parts of Buckinghamshire and other areas as well.


Roger de Somery’s Estate


By the time Roger de Somery died in 1291, the assessors at his inquisition were able to put a value on the castle (26s 8d, with accessories). This document mentions the rabbit warren which was probably on the hill itself and Conigre park, the area to the north-west of Castle Hill now covered by Tipton Road, hotels, and the A4123. It also included land in Tipton and two water mills, Castle Mill at the north end of Castle Hill and Withymoor at Netherton, are also mentioned in the list of possessions. Mines of carbo maris (sea coal) were mentioned in the 1272 account (in Sedgley) and are mentioned again in 1291. (Sea coal simply means ‘coal’ as opposed to charcoal, as it was usually transported by sea to London from the mines in the north-east of England.) The value of these mines had declined during the nineteen years from nearly £4 to 26s 8d. Iron mines are also mentioned. Much of the mining is likely to have been opencast, the ‘pits’ being literally pits in a field, not tunnels below ground.


At the same time an account of the manor was produced, describing the main features of Dudley as seen by the king’s ‘escheator’.6 Here the burgesses are specifically mentioned (their rent was £6 10d per annum), as are free tenants who paid on aggregate just over £4 per annum. The ordinary peasants owed plough service, hoeing, reaping, providing pannage for pigs and sending oats to the castle, as well as carrying hay from the meadow. It is possible that the ‘meadow’ in question was Lord’s Field, though the term usually applies to land near a brook or river.


The Prior of Dudley Against Northfield Church


Meanwhile the other source of authority in Dudley was the priory. In 1293 there was a tussle between the church authorities at Northfield and the prior; it is clear from the course of the argument that both were concerned about income and possessions. The Bishop of Worcester was involved, and eventually the prior was excommunicated by the Archbishop of Canterbury. Though it is hard to establish anything about the monks or priors at Dudley, many monks in general seem to be members of the same families as the temporal lords, and it is likely that their motives and manners were similar to these men. The battle of excommunications was waged as determinedly as the battle for Scotland.


Whenever money was available, it seems that additions or improvements were made to the priory. About the beginning of the fourteenth century the porch of which traces remain at the west end of the nave seems to have been demolished and the door repaired. Wider windows were inserted. The priory had become the natural burial place for the lords of Dudley and their families, and now Agnes de Somery, who had been head of the family since 1291 and attended the coronation of King Edward II in 1308, died and was buried at the priory. It is not clear whether the alterations to the priory were for her burial, or done during her lifetime.7


Roger de Somery’s son was John. He probably completed the castle in the early fourteenth century. John de Somery, a fierce fighter, had been born at Weoley Castle in 1280. Wars and revolts among the nobility during this period were so pervasive and so crippling that it is almost impossible to imagine the Dudley burgesses having a quiet time. Of John de Somery it was said that he ‘domineered more than a king’. No one could live in his domains unless he provided a bribe to de Somery, or else helped to build the new castle. He is also charged with setting siege to houses to murder the owners, or else extort money from them. Such was the builder of Dudley Castle, dreaming now as a romantic ruin, but once a savage symbol of tyranny. Luckily, John de Somery was often abroad, or unsuccessfully pursuing Scottish clansmen. As with previous members of his family, he was often found to be loyal to the king, while other barons in Staffordshire took a very different stance. It is important not to introduce modern notions of statecraft into this period: there were almost always wars, deliberately sought and often fought far from the Midlands.8


[image: images]


10 Elevations of Dudley Priory.
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11 Shields of the Lords of Dudley. The right-hand shield is that of the Wards, ‘goldsmiths’.


The Effect of War with France


Yet another conflict broke out in 1327: war with France. This was, however, the reason for a new lay subsidy, which gives us a revised list of the chief inhabitants of Dudley.


There are forty-two names on the list, contributing in all 76s 8d to the war effort. Some of these citizens are descendants of those taxed in the previous century. Nicolas de Bannebury has succeeded his father and Ricardus de Rushale reverted to a topographical spelling (though his namesake Ricardus Russel has not). Ricardus Frebody has inherited the family holding, probably on Kate’s Hill. There are still Pistors (Fishers), now joined by Petrus le Fleshewar, whose name suggests that the borough was already concerned with the quality of meat sold in the market. New names include William and Elia Bondy, with their kinsman Johannes Bendy (names which will play an important part in Dudley history), Stephanus de Holie, whose name indicates the existence of a primitive Holly Hall, and the slightly sinister Henricus le Fox. Another fatherless inhabitant is Adam filius Emmae. Unfortunately there is little information about the exact dwelling places of any of these men. A possible exception is the home of the Russel/Rushale clan, who almost certainly lived on the site of Russell’s Hall.9


In the meantime, while Dudley was increasing in trade and prosperity, the owners of the castle and manor were suffering. John de Somery died in 1321 and was succeeded by Margaret, his daughter, who had become the wife of John de Sutton (on-Trent, Nottinghamshire). Her sister, Joan Botetort, took Weoley and West Bromwich.


John de Sutton apparently supported the rebellion of the Earl of Lancaster, and was arrested. His lands were taken by a usurper, Hugh Despenser, who had been a favourite of King Edward II. John de Sutton was chained and thrown into prison. It is almost impossible to assess the characters of these childish and combative medieval noblemen, but quite unlikely that any real effects were felt in Dudley. It was years before the Suttons were restored to their castle, meanwhile the most catastrophic event of the fourteenth century took place: the arrival and spread in England of the Black Death.


Black Death


Unfortunately there are no records relating to the progress of the plague through Dudley town, but there is careful analysis for the neighbouring parish of Halesowen, now divided, but partly in Dudley Metropolitan borough.10 Halesowen Abbey was larger and more powerful than Dudley Priory; one of its patron saints was St Barbara, a mythical saint of Turkish origin. Before and during the Black Death, St Barbara lost her popularity; so much so that pilgrims, some of whom would almost certainly be from Dudley proper, failed to visit her shrine. The Abbot of Halesowen complained to the Bishop of Worcester about this, and about the costs that the abbey suffered in entertaining pilgrims from a distance. As the Black Death advanced, processions were held in the villages in Halesowen parish, but an estimated 40 per cent of the abbey’s tenants died, leaving farms temporarily untenanted. It can be assumed that the percentage of tenantry dying in Dudley Castle territory would be about the same. It is quite clear that population levels dropped catastrophically, and the graveyards at St Edmund’s and St Thomas’ would be in heavy use.


While plague raged in England, the barons were involved in war with France. We should not imagine the Suttons resting quietly in the castle, which often seems to be in the hands of stewards. Nevertheless, action was taken in 1338 to add more farming land claimed from the wastes in Dudley, Sedgley and Rowley Somery, suggesting that in the years between the famine of the first part of the century and the onset of the plague, population had been growing. It is probable that John de Sutton II, who became baron in 1327, added the barbican and the chapel block to the castle, but by 1346 he was fighting at the Battle of Crécy, and after a recall to Parliament he was again in France during 1350.


Relief at surviving the plague did not prevent lawlessness by Dudley residents. In 1391 Richard Frebody and Richard Marshal of ‘Duddeley’, with Matilda Dymmok, were sued by one Robert Burgylon for allegedly dispossessing him of lands in Sedgley.11 The case was initially proved, and a fine was awarded. In a counter-plea, Richard Frebody exonerated himself and was awarded damages against Robert Burgylon. The case rumbled on in the way of medieval law cases: in 1396 Richard Marchal of Duddeley was summoned by an inhabitant of Tipton for stealing twelve oxen and a cow. Richard produced a deed stating that he was entitled to the rent from land in Tipton owned by the plaintiff, Thomas Neuport, but Neuport replied that in the previous case it had been agreed that if Richard did not lose lands or tenements formerly belonging to Matilda Dymmok, the rent of the Tipton lands would be annulled. He claimed that the lands had not been lost, and therefore there was no rent to be paid. It appears that Frebody and Marchal had taken the law into their own hands, as so often seems to have happened during this period.
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